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LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

DEAR MR. SPEAKER: At several points during a Committee inves-
tigation into the circumstances surrounding the planned relocation
of the Federal Communications Commission to the Portals office
complex, the Committee sought certain records from Mr. Franklin
L. Haney, whose company is a general partner in the Portals part-
nership.

Despite more than five months of repeated attempts to obtain
Mr. Haney’s cooperation, Mr. Haney refused to provide the records
voluntarily, forcing the Subcommittee on Oversight and Investiga-
tions to authorize the issuance of subpoenas duces tecum to Mr.
Haney and three related companies under his control. Mr. Haney
did not dispute that he had possession or control over all of the
subpoenaed documents, but he nonetheless failed to produce any
responsive documents on the subpoena return date—even after his
meritless objections concerning pertinency, attorney-client privi-
lege, and confidentiality as to some of the documents were heard
and overruled by the Subcommittee, in the presence of Mr. Haney’s
attorney, at an open Subcommittee meeting on June 17, 1998.

Given his willful refusal to comply with the subpoenas and the
Subcommittee’s rulings on his objections, the Subcommittee pro-
ceeded to find Mr. Haney in contempt and reported the matter to
the Full Committee for appropriate action. On June 24, 1998, the
Full Committee met in open session to consider the Subcommittee
contempt report, and voted to adopt and submit the enclosed report
to the House of Representatives with a recommendation that the
full House cite Mr. Haney for contempt and refer the matter to the
designated U.S. Attorney for prosecution under the Federal crimi-
nal contempt statute.

Three weeks after the Full Committee action, Mr. Haney re-
versed his position and agreed to produce all documents responsive
to the subpoenas. Mr. Haney’s subsequent production of records to
the Committee appears to meet his obligation of full compliance.
Accordingly, I have no present intention of bringing this privileged
report and accompanying resolution before the House. I nonethe-
less believe it is important that this Committee report, including
the additional and minority views, be filed with the House, so that
it may serve as useful precedent in future disputes with private or
governmental parties concerning the prerogative of the Committees
of the House to require the production of information pertinent to
a lawful congressional investigation.

Sincerely,
TOM BLILEY, Chairman,

Committee on Commerce, U.S. House of Representatives.
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Mr. BLILEY, from the Committee on Commerce,
submitted the following

R E P O R T

together with

ADDITIONAL AND MINORITY VIEWS

INTRODUCTION

After five months of attempting to gain documents and other in-
formation voluntarily, the Subcommittee on Oversight and Inves-
tigations of the Committee on Commerce voted on April 30, 1998,
to authorize the issuance of subpoenas in furtherance of the Com-
mittee’s investigation into the circumstances surrounding the
planned relocation of the Federal Communications Commission
(FCC) to the Portals—a relocation that has become embroiled in
controversy over the possible use of improper or illegal influence by
certain key figures in the $400 million deal. Pursuant to that au-
thorization, Commerce Committee Chairman Tom Bliley signed
and had served, on June 4, 1998, four subpoenas demanding that
Franklin L. Haney—whose company Tower Associates II, Inc., is a
general partner in the partnership that owns the Portals build-
ings—and three companies under his control produce specified doc-
uments before the Subcommittee at its business meeting on June
17, 1998.

In the cover letter accompanying these subpoenas, Chairman Bli-
ley stated that Mr. Haney would be given an opportunity to raise
any legal objections he may have to the subpoenas and have them
ruled upon at that time by the Subcommittee, but that he should
be prepared to comply on June 17, under threat of contempt, with
the rulings on those objections. Chairman Bliley also stated that
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Mr. Haney should provide his formal legal objections to the subpoe-
nas, in writing, by noon on June 9, 1998, including a document-spe-
cific log of any material being withheld on grounds of attorney-cli-
ent privilege. Mr. Haney failed to meet that deadline. Approxi-
mately one hour before the scheduled business meeting on June 17,
the Committee received a letter from Mr. Haney’s attorney setting
forth his client’s legal objections to each category of subpoenaed
documents, but failing to include any privilege log. The objections
focused on issues of pertinency, attorney-client privilege, and attor-
ney-client confidentiality, which were similar to the general objec-
tions the Committee had received in response to its numerous vol-
untary attempts to secure documents from Mr. Haney since Decem-
ber of last year.

After debate and due consideration of these objections, and based
on legal counsel provided by the Congressional Research Service,
the House General Counsel’s Office, and Committee counsel, the
Subcommittee overruled all of Mr. Haney’s objections. When Mr.
Haney’s attorney stated that his client would not comply at that
time with the Subcommittee’s ruling, the Subcommittee proceeded
to hold Mr. Haney in contempt of Congress, and directed the Sub-
committee chairman to report and refer the matter to the full Com-
mittee.

Mr. Haney’s refusal to produce the subpoenaed documents is
without legitimate basis and is a direct affront to the lawful inves-
tigative functions of Congress. The House of Representatives must
not permit such defiance to go unchallenged or unpunished. To do
so not only would undermine this particular investigation into the
Portals, but also would set a damaging precedent for other ongoing
or future oversight by House committees by sending a signal to
would-be obstructionists that the House will not act to enforce its
constitutional rights to obtain all information pertinent to its law-
ful investigations. Upon adoption by the Commerce Committee and
the House, this report and resolution would direct the Speaker to
certify and refer the matter to the U.S. Attorney for the District
of Columbia for prosecution in accordance with the statutory provi-
sion for contempt of Congress, 2 U.S.C. § 192. That offense carries
a sentence of no less than one month and no more than one year
in prison, plus fines up to $100,000.

FACTS, BACKGROUND, AND CHRONOLOGY

THE COMMITTEE’S INQUIRY INTO THE FCC’S PLANNED MOVE TO THE
PORTALS

In October 1997, Business Week reported, in a detailed investiga-
tive account, about certain troubling circumstances surrounding
the planned relocation of the FCC to the Portals—entitled ‘‘Did
Gore Open A Door? A friend of Al, a sweet real estate deal from
the feds, and a $230,000 campaign contribution.’’ In particular, the
article suggested that, at the request of Mr. Haney and his part-
ners, there were significant and uncommon changes made in 1996
to the Portals lease with the General Services Administration
(GSA). The article also suggested that the FCC dropped its long-
standing and vigorous opposition to the move after Mr. Haney be-
came involved in the project in the Fall of 1995. The article quoted
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1 Specifically, Mr. Haney produced a copy of the $1 million check, the invoices received from
the Firm, the engagement letter between Mr. Haney and the Firm, and several documents re-
flecting his personal communications with the FCC on the Portals matter.

a lawyer involved in the negotiations as stating: ‘‘It was remark-
able. They [the FCC] were adamantly opposed, and then suddenly,
boom, in early 1996, they were for it.’’ The article described Mr.
Haney as a Tennessee real estate developer and a ‘‘longtime friend
of Vice-President Al Gore and his family,’’ who—one month after
closing the deal with GSA and joining the Portals partnership—
‘‘contributed $230,000 to the Democratic National Committee and
five state Democratic parties.’’

Several weeks after the publication of this article, and while pur-
suing an unrelated oversight matter involving the Department of
Energy, Committee staff was told by Mr. Bernie Wunder, former
managing partner of the lobbying firm Wunder, Knight, Levine,
Thelen & Forscey (the Firm), that one of its top partners—lawyer/
lobbyist Peter Knight, who served as campaign manager for the
1996 Clinton-Gore Re-Election Committee—billed and received in
early 1996 a $1 million ‘‘performance’’ payment from an unnamed
client for certain work performed in 1995. Subsequently, in a Time
magazine article, Mr. Haney acknowledged that he had paid Mr.
Knight a fee of $1 million for, according to the magazine, ‘‘general
legal work on the [Portals] project.’’ However, Mr. Haney and Mr.
Knight now both claim that the $1 million fee was for roughly a
dozen different projects, including the Portals, over a three-year
time period commencing in June of 1995 and ending this year.

After the Time magazine article appeared, Committee staff at-
tempted to contact Mr. Haney on several occasions to confirm
whether he was the source of the $1 million payment and, if so, for
what services the payment was made, but Mr. Haney did not re-
spond to these repeated inquiries. Because of Mr. Haney’s failure
to respond to the Committee’s informal overtures, on November 7,
1997, Commerce Committee Chairman Tom Bliley and Subcommit-
tee Chairman Joe Barton sent the first of several letters to Mr.
Haney requesting information about these allegations. In particu-
lar, the chairmen referred to and repeatedly quoted from the Busi-
ness Week and Time articles, and then stated: ‘‘If you paid Mr.
Knight $1 million in one lump sum as a performance fee [on the
Portals], we would have serious questions about the services for
which you were paying Mr. Knight on this federal contract, which
involves an agency within the Committee’s oversight responsibil-
ities.’’ In a subsequent letter explaining further the Committee’s in-
terest in this matter, the chairmen told Mr. Haney’s attorney that
‘‘[t]his Committee has both the right and the duty to inquire as to
whether this planned relocation is being conducted to further the
efficient and effective execution of the FCC’s statutory responsibil-
ities, or whether the relocation has been influenced by other, less
legitimate considerations.’’ (Copies of all correspondence between
the Committee and Franklin L. Haney are appended to the end of
this report.)

While Mr. Haney produced a limited number of documents in re-
sponse to the initial request for information,1 he subsequently has
refused to provide any further information, whether in the form of
documents, responses to written questions, a staff interview, or
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2 The Firm’s documents ultimately were obtained on June 17 and June 18, 1998, following the
service of a subpoena on the Firm’s managing partner and the Subcommittee’s overruling of the
objections raised by the Firm on Mr. Haney’s behalf. The fact that the Firm agreed at the Sub-
committee’s June 17 meeting to produce the subpoenaed documents in its possession does not,
however, relieve Mr. Haney of his independent duty to produce all responsive documents in his
own possession, especially given the lack of any evidence that Mr. Haney’s document production
would be or is co-extensive with the Firm’s production.

3 Mr. Haney previously had refused to comply with similar document subpoenas served upon
him on May 13, 1998, contending that ‘‘[b]oth the House rules and the caselaw interpreting the
contempt statute require the return of the subpoena be made to a duly convened committee [as
opposed to the Committee offices], which may consider the objections of the witness and rule
thereon, thereby providing the due process to which he is entitled in determining whether his
compliance is lawfully required.’’

After consulting with the House Parliamentarian and the House General Counsel, and review-
ing past practices of this and other committees of the House, the Committee determined that
this procedural objection was without merit. There is no requirement, in the House rules or else-
where, that subpoenas be returnable to a ‘‘duly convened committee.’’ Nonetheless, to expedite
production of the documents and to satisfy Mr. Haney’s demand for ‘‘due process,’’ on June 4,
1998, Chairman Bliley signed and had served new subpoenas returnable to a Subcommittee
meeting at 10:30 a.m. on June 17, 1998. By cover letter of June 4, Chairman Bliley informed
Mr. Haney that the Subcommittee would convene at that time to consider his legal objections
and rule thereon, precisely as requested by Mr. Haney’s counsel. Chairman Bliley also stated,
as noted above, that Mr. Haney should provide his formal legal objections to the subpoenas, in
writing, by noon on June 9, 1998, including a document-specific log of any material being with-
held on grounds of attorney-client privilege.

Mr. Haney failed to meet this deadline. Instead, on June 16, 1998, the day before the Sub-
committee was to meet, Mr. Haney’s counsel sent another letter to Chairman Bliley in which
he suggested, for the first time, that the Subcommittee needed to convene a hearing, rather than
a meeting, so that the ‘‘rules and procedures governing committee hearings will apply.’’ He did
not specify which rules and procedures he was referring to, nor did he provide any explanation
as to how such rules and procedures would benefit his client. Finally, he demanded that the
Chairman ‘‘provide us with the details of the procedure to be followed on June 17, 1998. Once
we have the details of such procedure, we will then be able to interpose Mr. Haney’s objections
to the Subcommittee’s subpoenas in a way that provides for their mature consideration by Sub-
committee members before a quorum meets to address any issues thus raised.’’

However, after consulting again with the House Parliamentarian and the House General
Counsel, the Committee determined that there was nothing procedurally defective with respect
to the June 4, 1998 subpoenas or the June 17, 1998 business meeting format. Indeed, Mr.
Haney’s interpretation would imply that all congressional information-gathering must take place
in a formal hearing setting—an interpretation that would be completely inconsistent with long-
standing congressional practice and would, as a practical matter, be highly disruptive to the ef-
fective performance of Congress’ constitutional legislative and oversight responsibilities. The
Committee also notes that, to the extent that Mr. Haney’s process concern focused on the exist-
ence of a quorum of the Subcommittee, Mr. Haney’s counsel was specifically advised the day
before the meeting that a quorum of the Subcommittee was necessary to conduct any business
and would be present to consider Mr. Haney’s objections to the subpoenas—and that, in fact,
the Committee’s rules require a larger quorum of members for meetings than they do for hear-
ings. Mr. Haney’s counsel did not, at that time or any time thereafter, raise any further, specific
procedural questions or concerns.

Furthermore, Mr. Haney’s attempt to dictate the format, process and sequence of a congres-
sional investigation is utterly without foundation. Mr. Haney had no right to demand a meeting,
much less a hearing, of the Subcommittee. Nonetheless, having been given an unprecedented

even a log of those documents being withheld from the Committee
and the grounds therefor. These refusals have been blanket ones,
without any serious attempts by Mr. Haney at even partial compli-
ance or compromise, and without any recognition of the rights of
Congress to such information. Mr. Haney also refused to consent
to Mr. Knight and other individuals employed by the Firm provid-
ing certain documents or being interviewed by Committee staff,
even on non-privileged matters, by invoking broad client confiden-
tiality restrictions.2

Because of the Subcommittee’s inability to gather information
voluntarily from key individuals with knowledge of the events in
question, the Subcommittee voted on April 30, 1998, to authorize
subpoenas for documents and testimony on this matter. Pursuant
to that vote, four subpoenas were served upon Mr. Haney on June
4, 1998, requiring the production on June 17 of certain categories
of documents within his possession or custody or that of the three
companies under his control.3 Most of the documents covered by
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opportunity to appear personally before the Subcommittee, as requested by his counsel’s letter
of May 20, Mr. Haney chose to ignore the deadline set by the Chairman and raise a new proce-
dural objection at the last minute. As the Supreme Court has remarked with respect to similar
gamesmanship, ‘‘[s]uch a patent evasion of the duty of one summoned to produce papers before
a congressional committee cannot be condoned.’’ United States v. Bryan, 339 U.S. 323, 333
(1950).

4 Mr. Haney’s counsel stated that, because of his procedural questions about the June 17 meet-
ing, he did not believe that his client was under any compulsion to comply with the subpoenas
on the return date, even for admittedly pertinent and non-privileged documents. While Mr.
Haney’s counsel did agree to produce, at some unspecified future time, non-privileged documents
relating to the Portals project, this commitment did not and should not affect the determination
of contempt, especially in light of Mr. Haney’s defiant refusal to provide all other responsive
records and his failure to date to provide the Committee with any of these non-privileged docu-
ments. As the Supreme Court has made clear, the act of contempt occurs when there is a willful
refusal to produce the subpoenaed documents on the subpoena return date. See United States
v. Bryan, 339 U.S. 323, 330 (1950) (‘‘[W]hen the Government introduced evidence in this case
that respondent had been validly served with a lawful subpoena directing her to produce records
within her custody and control, and that on the day set out in the subpoena she intentionally
failed to comply, it made out a prima facie case of wilful default.’’); see also Quinn v. United
States, 349 U.S. 155, 165–66 (1955). There is no question that Mr. Haney’s actions have laid
the predicate for a referral and prosecution for criminal contempt under 2 U.S.C. § 192. Quinn,
349 U.S. at 166.

the subpoenas had been requested previously by the Committee,
and on more than one occasion over the prior six months, without
success. Furthermore, as noted earlier, Mr. Haney ignored Chair-
man Bliley’s request for written legal objections and a privilege log
by June 9, waiting until the morning of the Subcommittee meeting
to produce a cursory two-page list of objections without any sup-
porting legal memorandum, analysis, or privilege log.

At the Subcommittee meeting on the subpoena return date,
Chairman Barton explained in detail the scope of the Committee’s
investigation in his preliminary statement:

As the Members are aware, since last November, the
Committee has been conducting an investigation into the
planned relocation of the Federal Communications Com-
mission to the Portals, including the circumstances sur-
rounding the lease arrangements for the FCC head-
quarters and the FCC’s decision-making with regard to the
move, the efforts of Franklin L. Haney and his representa-
tives to influence those lease arrangements or the FCC’s
decision-making, and the circumstances surrounding a $1
million payment from Franklin L. Haney—a general part-
ner in the Portals—to Peter Knight for services related in
part or whole to the Portals.

Following Chairman Barton’s remarks, Mr. Haney’s attorney was
given the opportunity to explain his client’s legal objections, and
was questioned about them by Subcommittee members for more
than one hour. During that questioning, Mr. Haney’s attorney ad-
mitted that his client was withholding non-privileged documents
relating to the Portals project and the services performed by Mr.
Knight for the $1 million fee,4 and unequivocally stated that his cli-
ent would not provide a privilege log for any of the allegedly privi-
leged documents being withheld from the Subcommittee. After the
members exhausted their questioning of Mr. Haney’s counsel, Mr.
Burr moved to overrule all of Mr. Haney’s objections and order full
compliance with the subpoenas. That motion was fully debated and
approved by the Subcommittee on a 9–6 vote.

Following the overruling of his objections, Chairman Barton or-
dered Mr. Haney to comply with the Subcommittee’s ruling, but
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5 Chairman Bliley’s June 4 letter to Mr. Haney contained the following explicit warning:
Finally, please be advised that, should the Subcommittee overrule your objections to the
subpoenas at its meeting, you will be ordered to comply with them immediately. If you
do not do so, the Subcommittee—with my full backing—will proceed immediately, at
that same meeting, to consideration of a resolution to hold you in contempt and to refer
the matter to the full Committee with a recommendation for similar action. Once such
a contempt finding is made by the Subcommittee, it cannot be cured by subsequent
compliance. Thus, to avoid being held in contempt of Congress and ultimately pros-
ecuted therefor, you must bring all the subpoenaed documents to the Subcommittee on
June 17, and be prepared to comply at that time with any adverse ruling on your objec-
tions.

6 The Committee’s views on the jurisdictional question also were explained fully to Mr.
Haney’s counsel in a November 21, 1997 letter from Chairman Bliley.

Mr. Haney, through his counsel, refused to commit to a course of
compliance—even though he was specifically advised that such re-
fusal could lead to his being held in contempt of Congress by the
Subcommittee at that time (consistent with Chairman Bliley’s June
4 letter to Mr. Haney).5 Mr. Haney’s counsel then was dismissed
from the witness table, and the Subcommittee proceeded to consid-
eration of a resolution to hold Mr. Haney in contempt. After full
debate by the members, the resolution was approved on a 9–7 vote.

AUTHORITY AND LEGISLATIVE PURPOSE

Mr. Haney did not contest the authority and valid legislative
purpose of the investigation either at the Subcommittee meeting or
in his written objections filed on June 17—in fact, his counsel con-
ceded during questioning that this Committee had the right to in-
quire into the stated subject matter of the investigation. Nonethe-
less, in earlier correspondence relating to the Committee’s vol-
untary requests for information, Mr. Haney’s attorney did raise
questions about the jurisdiction of this Committee to investigate
the circumstances surrounding the Commission’s planned reloca-
tion to the Portals. Accordingly, a brief discussion of the Commit-
tee’s authority to investigate this matter is in order, even though
jurisdictional objections were not raised in response to the subpoe-
nas themselves.

As the Subcommittee chairman stated during his preliminary
statement at the June 17 business meeting, and in the presence of
Mr. Haney’s counsel: ‘‘Our jurisdiction to investigate [these] mat-
ters is clear, since it is concurrent with the jurisdiction of the full
Committee, which is the authorizing committee for the FCC and is
charged with oversight of the agency’s ‘organization and oper-
ations’ ’’ (quoting Rule X, Clause 2(b)(1) of the U.S. House of Rep-
resentatives). While this Committee does not have primary juris-
diction over GSA, it certainly does have the right to inquire into
GSA actions that affect the ‘‘organization and operations’’ of the
Commission. Indeed, this Committee has in the past held hearings
on GSA actions involving the Commission and other agencies with-
in the Committee’s jurisdiction. 6 Accordingly, the jurisdiction of the
Committee to investigate this matter is not subject to credible chal-
lenge.

With respect to a valid legislative purpose, the Subcommittee
chairman addressed that issue at the June 17 meeting as well,
stating:

[W]e are not here to make allegations of wrongdoing
against any party. Rather, we are here to reaffirm the
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Subcommittee’s right to obtain all information relevant to
our inquiry, so that we can answer these outstanding
questions, make informed judgments about whether mis-
conduct has occurred, and if so, what legislative actions
may be necessary to correct it or prevent its reoccurrence.
For example, we may need to make or recommend statu-
tory changes in the [FCC]’s administrative structure or the
powers and duties of the Chairman and the Managing Di-
rector, or [take] more specific Portals-related actions.

Given Chairman Barton’s remarks and the lack of any objection on
this ground by Mr. Haney, there is no basis upon which to chal-
lenge the Committee’s legislative purpose in conducting this over-
sight project.

THE SUBPOENAED DOCUMENTS

The subpoenas to Mr. Haney and his three companies—Tower
Associates II, Inc., the Franklin L. Haney Company, and Building
Finance Company of Tennessee—seek identical categories of docu-
ments, as follows:

(1) All records that relate to Franklin L. Haney’s or the
Franklin L. Haney Companies’ retention or hiring of, or
the decision to retain or hire, Peter Knight, WKLTF, or
James Sasser for counsel or services regarding the Portals
or the relocation of the FCC.

(2) All records that relate to any payments or fees made
to James Sasser for services, efforts, lobbying, or other
work undertaken or provided regarding the Portals or the
relocation of the FCC, from January 1, 1994, through the
present, including but not limited to all bills or invoices
submitted by any of the foregoing.

(3) All records that relate to the services, efforts, lobby-
ing, or other work undertaken or provided, or to be under-
taken or provided, by Peter Knight, WKLTF, or James
Sasser regarding the Portals or the relocation of the FCC.

(4) All records that relate to the services, efforts, lobby-
ing, or other work undertaken or provided, or to be under-
taken or provided, by Peter Knight, WKLTF, or any other
person or entity for the $1 million fee billed to the Frank-
lin L. Haney Company in January 1996.

(5) All records that relate to the $1 million fee billed by
Peter Knight and/or WKLTF to the Franklin L. Haney
Company in January 1996, not produced in response to the
above request.

(6) All records that relate to any fee arrangement with
Peter Knight, WKLTF, or James Sasser for work under-
taken or provided, or to be undertaken or provided, by any
of the foregoing regarding the Portals or the relocation of
the FCC, including but not limited to all records that re-
late to the nature, negotiation, agreement, billing, pay-
ment, structure, purpose, or allocation of such fee arrange-
ment.

(7) All records that relate to any contact, communication,
understanding, or agreement (whether written, electronic,
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or oral) between any two or more of the following individ-
uals or entities regarding the Portals or the relocation of
the FCC: (i) Peter Knight; (ii) WKLTF; (iii) James Sasser;
(iv) former FCC Chairman Reed Hundt, or any other offi-
cial or employee at the FCC; (v) the Office of the Commis-
sioner, Public Building Service, General Services Adminis-
tration (GSA), or any official or employee thereof; (vi) the
Office of the GSA Administrator, or any official or em-
ployee thereof; (vii) the Office of the GSA Regional Admin-
istrator for the National Capital Region, or any official or
employee thereof; (viii) the Office of General Counsel,
GSA, or any official or employee thereof; (ix) Robert Peck;
(x) the Executive Office of the President (including but not
limited to the Office of the Vice President), or any official
or employee thereof; (xi) Franklin L. Haney; (xii) John
Wagster; (xiii) T.J. Mancuso; or (xiv) any one or more of
the Franklin L. Haney Companies.

(8) All warranties and certifications that relate to the
Portals and that are executed, signed, or co-signed under
the provisions of 41 U.S.C. §254(a) (or any other similar
statute or regulation governing contingent fee representa-
tions) by Franklin L. Haney, any one or more of the
Franklin L. Haney Companies, Parcel 49C Limited Part-
nership, or any other company or partnership in which
Franklin L. Haney or any one or more of the Franklin L.
Haney Companies have a financial interest, and all
records that relate to any such warranty or certification.

(9) All records that relate to the negotiation of the sup-
plemental lease agreements signed by Parcel 49C Limited
Partnership and GSA in January and March of 1996.

(A copy of each subpoena is appended to the end of this report.)
As is evident from those descriptions, all of the requests relate

directly to the involvement of Mr. Haney or his representatives in
the Portals matter, or to the $1 million fee from Mr. Haney to Mr.
Knight.

OBJECTIONS TO THE SUBPOENAS BY MR. HANEY

A. CLAIMS REGARDING PERTINENCY OF DOCUMENT REQUESTS

Mr. Haney has made several pertinency objections to the subpoe-
nas, which will be addressed in turn below, following a brief discus-
sion of the scope and nature of the pertinency requirement with re-
spect to congressional investigations.

The federal contempt statute, 2 U.S.C. § 192, provides that a
committee’s questions or subpoena requests must be ‘‘pertinent to
the subject under inquiry.’’ In determining matters of pertinency,
the courts have required only that the specific inquiries or docu-
ment requests be reasonably related to the subject matter under in-
vestigation. Sinclair v. United States, 279 U.S. 263, 279 (1929);
Ashland Oil, Inc. v. FTC, 409 F.Supp. 297, 305 (D.D.C. 1976). As
the American Law Division of the Congressional Research Service
stated in its recent memorandum to the Committee on the validity
of the Haney subpoenas:
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Because of the breadth of congressional investigations,
the courts have long recognized that pertinency in the leg-
islative context is broader than that of relevance under the
law of evidence. ‘‘A judicial inquiry relates to a case, and
the evidence to be admissible must be measured by the
narrow limits of the pleadings. A legislative inquiry antici-
pates all possible CASES which may arise thereunder and
the evidence must be responsive to the scope of the inquiry
which generally is very broad.’’ Townsend v. United States,
95 F.2d 252, 261 (D.C.Cir.), cert. denied, 303 U.S. 664
(1938) (emphasis in original).

Memorandum from Morton Rosenberg, Specialist in American Pub-
lic Law, the American Law Division, Congressional Research Serv-
ice, to the Honorable Tom Bliley, Chairman of the House Commit-
tee on Commerce, and the Honorable Joe Barton, Chairman of the
Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations, dated June 16,
1998, at 10 [hereinafter referred to as ‘‘the CRS Memorandum’’]. (A
copy of this memorandum is appended to the end of this report.)

As the above makes clear, pertinency is not a rigid concept, but
rather is one that is flexible enough to permit an investigation to
pursue all related leads. See Eastland v. United States Servicemen’s
Fund, 421 U.S. 491, 509 (1975); see also Senate Select Committee
on Ethics v. Packwood, 845 F.Supp. 17, 21 (D.D.C. 1994) (‘‘Yet
where, as here, an investigative subpoena is challenged on rel-
evancy grounds, the Supreme Court has stated that the subpoena
is to be enforced ‘unless the district court determines that there is
no reasonable possibility that the category of materials the Govern-
ment seeks will produce information relevant to the general subject
of the . . . investigation.’ ’’).

Turning to Mr. Haney’s specific pertinency objections, he has ob-
jected to providing all of the records relating to the $1 million fee,
claiming that the fee also covered projects other than the Portals
and that such other information is not pertinent to our investiga-
tion. On several occasions, the Committee has attempted to explain
to Mr. Haney and his counsel the pertinency of this and similar
voluntary requests made during this investigation. For example, in
an April 16, 1998 document request to Mr. Haney, Chairman Bliley
stated:

[A]ny objection to producing documents relating to the
details of the $1 million fee, and the work performed by
Mr. Knight for that fee, would be equally baseless. Despite
the stunning coincidence between the date of the invoice
and the signing of a key Portals lease agreement, you
claim—without providing any supporting information—
that the $1 million fee was not solely for Mr. Knight’s
work on the Portals, but for a variety of projects. While the
Committee’s jurisdiction is founded on the Portals matter,
it is incumbent upon the Committee, and within the legiti-
mate scope of our investigation, to test your claim by re-
viewing all documents that will shed light on the nature
and purpose of the $1 million payment.

Similarly, at the June 17 Subcommittee meeting, Chairman Bar-
ton stated the following in the presence of Mr. Haney’s counsel:
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7 During discussion on the pertinency of the non-Portals projects allegedly performed for the
$1 million fee, Mr. Haney’s counsel also argued that these records were business sensitive in
nature and that disclosure to the Subcommittee would be harmful to Mr. Haney’s business in-
terests. Mr. Haney did not, however, raise this issue in his written legal objections filed on June
17, presumably because it is clear that the sensitive nature of records is not a legal basis upon
which private parties can withhold documents from Congress. This Committee routinely re-
quests and receives business sensitive (and attorney-client privileged) records from private par-
ties, and takes all appropriate steps to ensure their confidentiality.

The juxtaposition of the questions under inquiry with
the list of subpoenaed documents, I think, makes clear the
pertinency of our requests. To date, the Subcommittee has
received conflicting evidence about the nature and purpose
of the $1 million fee, as well as the degree of involvement
of Mr. Haney and his representatives in securing certain
lease terms or the FCC’s agreement at the time to move.
The demanded documents will help us get to the truth.

Moreover, Committee counsel and Mr. Haney’s attorney discussed
the pertinency of these particular records at considerable length in
telephone conversations on June 16, 1998.

Despite all of these explanations, Mr. Haney continued to inter-
pose this pertinency objection at the June 17 meeting, and made
clear his refusal to comply with the Subcommittee’s ruling on his
claim of pertinency. The Subcommittee, in making that determina-
tion, relied upon its own analysis of the need for such materials,
as well as the CRS Memorandum, which concluded in relevant part
(at page 10):

It has been claimed, without tangible verification, that
the payment was for a number of assignments that have
been or would be undertaken by Mr. Knight over the three
year period of the retainer agreement. The coincidence of
the payment and the signing of the supplemental lease
agreement between GSA and the Portals partnership has
raised what appears to be legitimate concerns about the
nature and purpose of the payment, which the conflicting
evidence thus far gathered by the Subcommittee has not
allayed. In response, Mr. Haney has supplied
unconfirmable denials of pertinency. In this posture, the
current record would appear to provide a strong founda-
tion for a court to find that Mr. Haney has been informed
of the pertinence of the subpoena requests.

The Committee need not take Mr. Haney’s ‘‘unconfirmable deni-
als’’ at face value. The most direct way for the Committee to test
the assertions by Mr. Knight and Mr. Haney with respect to the
$1 million fee is to see what the other alleged projects were, what
level of services were provided, when they were provided in rela-
tion to the payment, and whether these other projects were ever
completed. The subpoenaed documents certainly are pertinent to
that legitimate investigative task.7

Mr. Haney’s other pertinency objection relates to any and all
records concerning his relationship with, and representation by,
Mr. Sasser on the Portals matter. Mr. Haney has not articulated
to any degree why he believes such records are not pertinent to the
Committee’s investigation into whether improper influences were
brought to bear on GSA and FCC by Mr. Haney or his representa-
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8 Mr. Haney’s attorney also has intimated in past correspondence with the Committee on this
matter—although not in response to the subpoenas—that documents relating to communications
with GSA, as opposed to the FCC, are not pertinent to the Committee’s investigation. However,
as stated above, actions taken by GSA that affect the FCC fall within the Committee’s jurisdic-
tion and the scope of this investigation.

9 This Committee, in particular, has been a strong proponent of this view. As then-Chairman
Dingell stated in a June 1983 Committee document on this very subject: ‘‘[T]he position of the
Subcommittee has consistently been that the availability of the attorney-client privilege to wit-
nesses before it is a matter subject to the discretion of the Chair.’’ Committee on Commerce
Print 98–I (98th Congress, 1st Session). See also the Opinion of the Senate Subcommittee on
Nuclear Regulation, July 19, 1989, at 12–13 (‘‘As an independent branch of government with
such constitutional authority, the Congress must necessarily have the independent authority to
determine the validity of non-constitutional evidentiary privileges that are asserted before the
Congress.’’).

tives—one of whom was Mr. Sasser, the former United States Sen-
ator and current U.S. Ambassador to China. Prior to the issuance
of the subpoenas, Chairman Bliley explained to Mr. Haney the
pertinency of these requests in an April 16, 1998 letter, stating:

On a separate but related matter, the Committee has re-
ceived information that, in addition to Mr. Knight, you
also retained former Senator James Sasser to represent
you on the Portals, and that Mr. Sasser met with GSA and
FCC officials, including then-FCC Chairman Reed Hundt,
to discuss this matter. In light of the questions surround-
ing your fee arrangement with Mr. Knight, I am interested
in learning the nature of your fee arrangement with Mr.
Sasser, and the details of Mr. Sasser’s efforts to influence
the GSA lease and the FCC’s relocation.

In light of this notice, and the lack of any detailed rebuttal by Mr.
Haney or his counsel, the claim that these records are not perti-
nent to this investigation is without merit.8

B. CLAIMS OF ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE

Mr. Haney has made a sweeping claim of entitlement to withhold
whole categories of documents on grounds of attorney-client privi-
lege. For various reasons described in more detail below, the Sub-
committee decided to overrule this claim and demand production of
all requested records.

With respect to Mr. Haney’s claim of privilege, we start with the
jurisdictional proposition that there is no constitutional, statutory
or common law bar to the Subcommittee demanding even explicitly
privileged materials. The historic position of the House of Rep-
resentatives is that committees of Congress are not bound to recog-
nize any non-Constitutional privilege, such as the attorney-client
privilege. Rather, as the CRS Memorandum makes plain (at page
11):

The precedents of the House of Representatives and the
Senate, which are founded on Congress’ inherent constitu-
tional prerogative to investigate, establish that acceptance
of a claim of attorney-client or work product privilege rests
in the sound discretion of a committee, regardless of
whether a court would uphold the claim in the context of
litigation * * * 9
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An earlier CRS memorandum elaborates on the rationale for such
a conclusion, emphasizing the problematic consequences of any con-
trary view:

Indeed the suggestions that the investigatory authority
of the legislative branch of government is subject to non-
constitutional, common law rules, developed by the judicial
branch to govern its proceedings arguably is contrary to
the concept of separation of powers. It would, in effect, per-
mit the judiciary to determine congressional procedure and
is therefore difficult to reconcile with the congressional au-
thority granted each House of Congress to determine its
own rules.

Memorandum of Morton Rosenberg, Specialist in American Law,
the American Law Division, CRS, dated September 3, 1982, at 21–
22 (published in Committee on Commerce Print 98–I, at 23–24
(98th Congress, 1st Session).

That said, most congressional committees have looked to analo-
gous judicial authority in determining whether to recognize a par-
ticular claim of privilege—a practice from which there is no need
to deviate in this particular instance, for it appears to be without
question that Mr. Haney’s claim of privilege would not be sustained
by any court of law.

Mr. Haney’s blanket claim of privilege is unacceptable and prevents
any balancing of interests

The attorney-client privilege, while long established in the law,
has never been particularly favored. As Dean Wigmore, the father
of the law of evidence, has aptly pointed out: ‘‘[The privilege] is
nonetheless an obstacle to the investigation of truth. It ought to be
strictly confined within the narrowest possible limits consistent
with the logic of its principle.’’ 8 Wigmore, Evidence, § 2291, at 554
(McNaughton rev. 1961). Accordingly, for the privilege to apply, the
claimant affirmatively must establish (1) a communication, (2)
made in confidence, (3) to an attorney, acting in such capacity, (4)
by a client, and (5) for the purpose of seeking or obtaining legal ad-
vice (ibid.)—subject to a strict standard of waiver, as well as nu-
merous other exceptions that have been carved out by the courts
in an effort to reduce the truth-frustrating impact of the privilege
in certain situations. See the CRS Memorandum, at 12–18.

Accordingly, the burden of establishing the existence of each ele-
ment of the attorney-client privilege rests with the party asserting
the privilege—not the party seeking to gain the information. FTC
v. Lukens Steel Co., 444 F. Supp. 803, 806 (D.D.C. 1977) (‘‘The
party seeking the benefit of the privilege has the burden of dem-
onstrating its applicability.’’); see also E. Epstein, The Attorney-Cli-
ent Privilege and the Work-Product Doctrine, at 29–30 (American
Bar Association, 3d ed. 1997).

While the fact that Mr. Knight, Mr. Sasser and other individuals
hired by Mr. Haney are licensed attorneys raises questions about
the potential applicability of the attorney-client privilege, the key
words here are ‘‘potential applicability.’’ The federal courts have
been quite clear that ‘‘the attorney-client relationship does not cre-
ate an automatic ‘cloak’ of protection . . . draped around all occur-
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10 See also the CRS Memorandum, at 13–14 and n.8 (‘‘Blanket assertions of the privilege have
been deemed ‘unacceptable,’ and are strongly disfavored.’’) (internal citations omitted).

11 This Committee routinely requires logs from both governmental and private parties who
claim some entitlement to withhold requested information from the Committee—whether the
claim is one of attorney-client privilege, executive privilege, enforcement sensitive, or otherwise.
Even the White House routinely provides such logs to the Committee when dealing with Presi-
dential decision-making records or sensitive foreign policy documents. The Committee should
neither expect nor require any less from Mr. Haney.

12 When pressed on this matter at the Subcommittee meeting, Mr. Haney’s counsel simply
stated that he was aware of case law supporting his client’s refusal to produce a log. However,
he did not supply such case law to the Committee, either at the Subcommittee meeting or in
his June 17 letter listing Mr. Haney’s formal objections to the subpoenas, and the Committee—
despite its own research—is not aware of any such court decisions.

13 Relatedly, Mr. Haney has claimed the work-product doctrine as an additional basis upon
which to withhold some of the same categories of documents. The reasons discussed above for
overruling Mr. Haney’s claim of attorney-client privilege apply equally to his claim of work-pro-
tection, and thus need not be separately discussed. The Committee notes, however, that Mr.
Haney’s claim of work product protection raises the additional question of whether the services
he received from Mr. Knight and his other lawyers were ‘‘in anticipation of litigation,’’ as re-
quired under federal rules and case law in order to invoke this doctrine.

rences and conversations which have any bearing, direct or indi-
rect, upon the relationship of the attorney with his client.’’ United
States v. Goldfarb, 328 F.2d 280, 281–82 (6th Cir.), cert. denied,
377 U.S. 976 (1964); see also The Attorney-Client Privilege, supra,
at 24. Rather,

the privilege must be asserted against giving par-
ticular testimony or producing particular docu-
ments. Blanket assertions of privilege are not
countenanced. Thus, the privilege may not be
raised against testifying generally or engaging in
any discovery at all. It must be raised communica-
tion by communication or document by document.

The Attorney-Client Privilege, supra, at 24 (citing cases).10

Thus, in order to facilitate this determination, ‘‘courts have re-
quired the parties asserting the privilege to create a privilege log
or index, document by document, identifying each document for
which the privilege is claimed and the basis for the claim of privi-
lege.’’ The Attorney-Client Privilege, supra, at 33. Congressional
committees also follow this common practice when faced with refus-
als to produce responsive documents.11

The record in this case can leave little doubt that Mr. Haney ut-
terly failed to carry his burden on this issue. The Committee made
repeated requests that Mr. Haney provide a log or index of those
documents over which he claimed a privilege, but he refused to do
so.12 This failure left the Subcommittee without any information to
test the assertions of privilege and no record upon which to find a
valid claim of privilege in Mr. Haney’s favor. Mr. Haney’s actions
also prevented the Subcommittee from balancing whatever valid
claims of privilege he may have had against the Subcommittee’s in-
vestigative need. In short, the privilege was Mr. Haney’s to assert,
prove, and protect, yet he took no concrete steps to do so. The Sub-
committee’s decision to overrule his blanket claims of privilege was
therefore proper, and consistent with the practice of courts
throughout the country. See, e.g., International Paper Co. v. Fiber-
board Corp., 63 F.R.D. 88, 94 (D.Del. 1974) (denying claim of privi-
lege due to lack of specificity, and stating: ‘‘An improperly asserted
claim of privilege is no claim of privilege at all. . . .’’); The Attor-
ney-Client Privilege, supra, at 23–34.13
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14 As the Committee on Foreign Affairs stated in its contempt report involving the refusal of
the Bernsteins to answer questions about their representation of Ferdinand Marcos: ‘‘Having
been given numerous opportunities to raise their objections and to make their case, including
providing written submissions as well as oral statements, the Bernsteins made no effort to es-
tablish that their services were legal rather than business in nature.’’ H. Rep. No. 99–462, re-
printed at 132 Cong. Rec. 3031 (February 27, 1986).

Mr. Haney failed to demonstrate any privileged relationship with
Mr. Knight

Even if Mr. Haney had produced a privilege log of communica-
tions between him and Mr. Knight, there is substantial reason to
believe that such communications would not be recognized as privi-
leged by the federal courts for one simple reason: the communica-
tions do not appear to have been made in furtherance of obtaining
predominantly legal advice from Mr. Knight. As the CRS Memoran-
dum explains (at page 15):

the case law has consistently emphasized that one
of the essential elements of the attorney-client
privilege is that the attorney be acting as an at-
torney and that the communication be made for
the purpose of securing legal services. The privi-
lege therefore does not attach to incidental legal
advice given by an attorney acting outside the
scope of his role as attorney. ‘‘ ‘Acting as a lawyer’
encompasses the whole orbit of legal functions.
When he acts as an advisor, the attorney must
give predominantly legal advice to retain his cli-
ent’s privilege of non-disclosure, not solely, or
even largely, business advice’’ (quoting Zenith
Radio Corp. v. Radio Corp. of America, 121 F.
Supp. 792, 794 (D.Del. 1954) (emphasis supplied)).

In order to ascertain the capacity in which an attorney is acting
on behalf of a client, the courts routinely permit the party seeking
the documents to question the party withholding the documents (or
his attorney) on such issues as ‘‘the general nature of the attorney’s
services to his client, the scope of [the attorney’s] authority as
agent and the substance of matters which the attorney, as agent,
is authorized to pass along to third parties.’’ CRS Memorandum at
15–16.

Consistent with that authority, Subcommittee members at-
tempted to question Mr. Haney’s attorney about the nature of the
services provided by Mr. Knight, but he refused to answer certain
questions. Instead, he simply stated that Mr. Knight was hired to
perform the full range of legal services that a person usually hires
an attorney to perform, and would not elaborate further. Thus,
again, when given the opportunity to establish a privileged rela-
tionship with Mr. Knight, Mr. Haney balked. This failure alone
warrants a finding against the validity of his privilege claims.14

Furthermore, the other evidence gathered by the Committee—in-
cluding the records of Mr. Knight’s firm—raises serious questions
as to whether Mr. Knight was hired to provide predominantly legal
advice. While the retainer letter between Mr. Knight and Mr.
Haney discusses both ‘‘legal’’ and ‘‘strategic’’ counsel, there is little,
if any, evidence of Mr. Knight providing legal advice to Mr. Haney,
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15 Although he repeatedly raised this rule as a basis for his client’s withholding of certain cat-
egories of documents, Mr. Haney’s counsel also apparently conceded under questioning that Mr.
Haney could not legitimately claim the protection of this rule for documents in his own posses-
sion. Thus, it is still unclear upon what basis Mr. Haney is refusing to produce the non-privi-
leged documents in his possession, such as information relating to his retention of Mr. Sasser,
their fee arrangement and billing history on the Portals, and the non-Portals project records al-
legedly detailing work performed for the $1 million fee.

or Mr. Haney seeking legal advice from Mr. Knight. Thus, the Sub-
committee agrees with the legal conclusion contained in the CRS
Memorandum (at page 18):

In short, based on the record now before the Subcommit-
tee, the claims of attorney-client [privilege] would not like-
ly be sustained by a reviewing court. In particular, Mr.
Haney has failed to supply the essential elements nec-
essary to support a privilege assertion, including evidence
that the relationship with Mr. Knight was predominantly
for legal, rather than business, advice, or that the ‘‘strate-
gic’’ advice was not meant to be communicated to third
parties. In the absence of a detailed and descriptive privi-
lege log that could set forth specific facts that, if credited,
would be sufficient to establish each element of the privi-
lege claimed, it is unlikely that a reviewing court would
[accept] the claims.

C. CLAIM OF CLIENT CONFIDENTIALITY UNDER BAR ASSOCIATION
RULES

Mr. Haney also has claimed, as a basis for refusing to provide
certain subpoenaed documents, a local bar rule (Rule 1.6 of the
D.C. Rules of Professional Conduct) that prohibits attorneys from
disclosing any confidences or secrets of their clients without the cli-
ent’s consent, a court order, or otherwise as required by law. But
as the nature of the rule should make clear, it imposes an ethical
duty on the attorney, not the client—the latter of whom is free to
divulge whatever information he or she chooses. Because Mr.
Haney is the client in this case, he is not under any ethical duty
to withhold these documents from the Committee, and he can face
no adverse consequences by doing so since he would not be reveal-
ing any confidences of a client.15

Even if Mr. Haney could claim the protection of this rule in some
other context, the rule itself does not explicitly address requests
from Congress. While there does not appear to be any judicial
precedent for the rule’s application in the legislative arena, federal
courts consistently have found, in analogous contexts, that general
confidentiality provisions—even if mandated as a matter of federal
law—cannot be used to shield information from Congress, unless
these statutes expressly bring Congress within their ambit. See,
e.g., F.T.C. v. Owens-Corning Fiberglass Corp., 626 F.2d 966, 970
(D.C. Cir. 1980) (citing other cases for same proposition).

Furthermore, it is important to stress that this rule is not a com-
mon law privilege that shields client information from all disclo-
sures—just voluntary ones. See Memorandum of Geraldine R.
Gennet, House General Counsel, to the Honorable Tom Bliley,
Chairman of the House Committee on Commerce, and the Honor-
able Joe Barton, Chairman of the Subcommittee on Oversight and
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16 See also the General Counsel Memorandum, at 5–9 (concluding that bar association rule
is satisfied by issuance of subpoena and overruling of objections to production).

17 See also the Opinion of the Senate Subcommittee on Nuclear Regulation, July 19, 1989, at
13 n.5 (rejecting claim by attorney of ethical duty to withhold requested information, and stat-
ing: ‘‘We believe this Subcommittee’s determination [regarding the validity of privileges] would
qualify under the Model Code as ‘required by law.’ ’’)

Investigations, dated June 16, 1998, at 2–3 [hereinafter referred to
as ‘‘the General Counsel Memorandum’’]. (A copy of this memoran-
dum is appended to the end of this report.) Thus, the rule expressly
permits disclosure upon court order or as required by law. In the
civil or criminal litigation context, an attorney therefore must chal-
lenge information requests, including subpoenas, by making a mo-
tion to quash the discovery to the appropriate judicial official. If
that fails and the court orders compliance, the attorney can provide
the information without concern of disbarment or other profes-
sional sanctions. Similarly,

[o]nce the Chair in a congressional proceeding
overrules the objection, the period when disclosure
would be ‘‘voluntary’’ is past. Once the subcommit-
tee overruled [his] objection, [Mr. Haney] was
bound to obey its direction, and follow its ruling
as a commandment of disclosure, in the words of
the [Bar] Code, ‘‘required by law.’’ [His] resistance
to doing so was contempt of Congress.

Contempt Report of Committee on Foreign Affairs, H. Rep. No. 99–
462, reprinted at 132 Cong. Rec. 3033 (Feb. 27, 1986) (citing Quinn
v. United States, 349 U.S. 155, 165–66 (1955)).16

Finally, the notion that a state or local ethics rule established by
a professional organization can impede a congressional investiga-
tion has been rejected in the past by both Houses of Congress. As
the Committee on Foreign Affairs stated in its contempt report in-
volving the Bernstein brothers, who also claimed this bar rule as
a basis for withholding information from its respective subcommit-
tee, it is ‘‘well-established that no professional or bar association
rule can override Federal law, such as the Congress’ inherent con-
stitutional investigatory power.’’ H. Rep. No. 99–462, reprinted at
132 Cong. Rec. 3033 (Feb. 27, 1986).17 This Committee agrees, as
should the entire Congress.

HOUSE RULES REQUIREMENTS

A. COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

On Thursday, April 30, 1998, the Subcommittee on Oversight
and Investigations met in open session and, by a roll call vote of
9 yeas to 6 nays, authorized the issuance of subpoenas ad
testificandum and subpoenas duces tecum in connection with the
Subcommittee’s ongoing Portals investigation, including subpoenas
duces tecum for the records of Franklin L. Haney and three compa-
nies under his control.

On Wednesday, June 17, 1998, the Subcommittee on Oversight
and Investigations held an open business meeting to receive sub-
poenaed documents in connection with the Subcommittee’s ongoing
Portals investigation. The Subcommittee, by a roll call vote of 9
yeas to 7 nays, adopted a resolution finding Franklin L. Haney in
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contempt for failure to comply with the subpoenas duces tecum
served on him, and directing the Chairman of the Subcommittee to
report such finding to the Committee on Commerce for such action
as the Committee deems appropriate.

On Wednesday, June 24, 1998, the Full Committee on Commerce
met in open session to consider a Report finding Franklin L. Haney
in Contempt of Congress and directing the Speaker of the House
of Representatives to certify the Report of the Committee on Com-
merce with respect to Franklin L. Haney to the U.S. Attorney for
the District of Columbia and, by a roll call vote of 26 yeas to 18
nays, adopted and reported the Report to the House.

B. ROLLCALL VOTES

Clause 2(l)(2)(B) of Rule XI of the Rules of the House requires
the Committee to list the recorded votes on the motion to report
a measure to the House and amendments thereto. The following
are the recorded vote on the motion to adopt and report the Report
to the House, including the names of those Members voting for and
against, and the recorded votes on the motions considered in con-
nection with the Report.
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COMMITTEE ON COMMERCE—105TH CONGRESS VOICE VOTES

Measure: Report finding Franklin L. Haney in Contempt of Con-
gress and directing the Speaker of the House of Representatives to
certify the Report of the Committee on Commerce with respect to
Franklin L. Haney to the U.S. Attorney for the District of Colum-
bia.

Unanimous consent request: A Unanimous Consent Request by
Mr. Bliley provided that, among other things, the nine technical
and conforming amendments agreed to by staff are hereby made to
the Report, and the Committee will be permitted to include in the
Report all sections required to be in committee reports pursuant to
the Rules of the House.

Disposition: Agreed to, without objection

C. OTHER HOUSE RULES REQUIREMENTS

Pursuant to clause 2(l)(3)(A) of Rule XI of the Rules of the House
of Representatives, the Subcommittee on Oversight and Investiga-
tions and the Full Committee on Commerce met and made findings
that are reflected in this report.

Pursuant to clause 2(l)(3)(D) of Rule XI of the Rules of the House
of Representatives, no oversight findings have been submitted to
the Committee by the Committee on Government Reform and
Oversight.

The Committee finds that the provisions of clause 2(l)(3)(B) of
Rule XI (pertaining to new budget authority, entitlement authority,
and tax expenditures) and clause 2(l)(3)(C) of Rule XI (pertaining
to a Congressional Budget Office cost estimate) are not applicable
to this report.

Pursuant to clause 2(l)(4) of Rule XI of the Rules of the House
of Representatives, the Committee finds that the Constitutional au-
thority for this report is provided in Article I, section 8, clause 3,
which grants Congress the power to regulate commerce with for-
eign nations, among the several States, and with the Indian tribes.

Finally, the Committee finds that: (1) the provisions of section
5(b) of the Federal Advisory Committee Act (pertaining to the cre-
ation of advisory committees) are not applicable to this report; and
(2) the report does not relate to the terms and conditions of employ-
ment or access to public services or accommodations within the
meaning of section 102(b)(3) of the Congressional Accountability
Act.

CONCLUSION

To date, and in large part due to the uncooperativeness of Mr.
Haney, the Subcommittee has been unable to resolve the truth of
the allegations first raised last year in the Business Week and Time
magazine articles. The evidence gathered so far paints an incom-
plete and conflicting picture with respect to the nature and purpose
of the $1 million fee and the involvement of Mr. Haney and his rep-
resentatives in securing certain changes to the Portals lease or the
FCC’s relocation to that site. At this point, the Committee is not
prepared to say that Mr. Haney or any other party has engaged in
illegalities, wrongdoing or misconduct. In fact, the very point of
this contempt report is that Mr. Haney’s recalcitrance has denied
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the Committee key information regarding whether those allega-
tions may be true.

As former Representative Solarz said with respect to his rec-
ommendation that the House hold the Bernstein brothers in con-
tempt for their refusal to provide information on their representa-
tion of Ferdinand Marcos:

At the time we began the hearings, we had no hard evi-
dence that the allegations were accurate . . . . We have
pursued this matter simply because we are interested in
establishing the right of our committee and the Congress
as a whole to obtain this kind of information. If the House
does not turn over such witnesses to the Department of
Justice, we could be creating a precedent that could poten-
tially cripple the capacity of the Congress to fulfill its con-
stitutional and legislative responsibilities . . . . 132 Cong.
Rec. 3048 (Feb. 27, 1986).

The Subcommittee lawfully authorized and issued subpoenas for
Mr. Haney’s records—records that were pertinent to a valid con-
gressional investigation within the scope of the Subcommittee’s ju-
risdiction. In response to those subpoenas, Mr. Haney failed to pro-
vide any responsive records, including by his counsel’s own admis-
sion clearly non-privileged documents relating to his negotiations
with GSA over the Portals lease amendments. Mr. Haney’s claims
of privilege, confidentiality, and pertinence were properly overruled
by the Subcommittee, as Mr. Haney failed to carry his burden of
establishing any lawful right to withhold these documents from
Congress. His refusal to comply with the subpoenas and the Sub-
committee’s rulings on his objections was willful and contemptible.

Accordingly, the Committee recommends to the House
the following resolution:

Resolved, That pursuant to sections 102 and 104 of the
Revised Statutes of the United States (2 U.S.C. §§ 192,
194), the Speaker of the House of Representatives certify
the report issued by the Subcommittee on Oversight and
Investigations and adopted by the full Committee on Com-
merce, detailing the failure of Mr. Franklin L. Haney to
produce papers to the Committee on Commerce, to the
United States Attorney for the District of Columbia, to the
end that Mr. Franklin L. Haney be proceeded against in
the manner and form provided by law.
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ADDITIONAL VIEWS

During the Subcommittee and full Committee meetings to con-
sider holding Franklin L. Haney in contempt of Congress for his
failure to produce subpoenaed records, several Members of the Mi-
nority made pointed criticisms of the Majority’s handling of this in-
vestigation and these contempt proceedings. We believe that a re-
buttal is required for the record.

Some in the Minority claim that we have proceeded too quickly
and without attempts at compromise with Mr. Haney. But as the
detailed correspondence between the Committee and Mr. Haney
(attached as an appendix to the Contempt Report) reflects, the
Committee made numerous, good faith attempts to secure relevant
records and other information from Mr. Haney voluntarily, over a
five month period of time, before even authorizing these document
subpoenas—and even then we waited several more weeks before
issuing them. Mr. Haney was given repeated opportunities to com-
ply or seek a compromise with the Committee in order to avoid
these compulsory requests, but he chose instead to attack our in-
vestigation publicly and stonewall our attempts to gather informa-
tion in their entirety.

Even after we issued subpoenas, Mr. Haney proceeded in bad
faith, refusing to turn over any responsive documents and raising
meritless procedural claims at the last minute in an attempt to jus-
tify this contemptible behavior. It was not until the day before the
Subcommittee contempt meeting that Mr. Haney made any at-
tempt at compromise, but even then he insisted on dictating to this
Committee what records were relevant to our inquiry and what
records were ‘‘privileged’’ or ‘‘confidential,’’ without providing the
Committee with one piece of evidence to support these claims. And
it was not until the middle of the full Committee contempt meeting
that Mr. Haney finally produced some of the non-privileged mate-
rials and a privilege log—even though the Subcommittee already
had overruled all of his objections to the subpoenas, including his
unsupported claims of privilege, and had ordered full compliance.
Thus, we now know that Mr. Haney has been withholding from
this Committee for more than half a year information that even he
conceded he had no right to withhold—documents relating to his
contacts with government officials on the Portals project.

Simply put, that is not the way the process works. Mr. Haney,
and apparently some in the Minority, seem to believe that the time
for negotiation and compromise is after subpoenas have been
issued and after the subpoena return dates have come and gone.
We strongly disagree. Under Chairman Bliley’s leadership, the
Committee has issued subpoenas sparingly and only after vol-
untary attempts to secure information or compromise have proven
unsuccessful. But once the Committee takes the extraordinary step
of issuing subpoenas, we expect compliance with them to be timely
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and full. Failure to do so after the Committee has considered and
rejected all potential objections to the subpoenas is contempt, pure
and simple, and subpoenaed parties must know that their refusals
to cooperate carry a price.

The dissenters also have criticized our failure to permit Mr.
Haney to testify at a public hearing prior to holding him in con-
tempt. In fact, we offered Mr. Haney an opportunity to appear be-
fore the Subcommittee to raise objections to the subpoenas, but he
chose to send his attorney instead (who was questioned at length
by Subcommittee members). This process of hearing and consider-
ing objections to subpoenas in a public meeting, with full oppor-
tunity for debate, is virtually unprecedented in the Committee’s
history, and is a sign of the extraordinary due process afforded to
Mr. Haney. Furthermore, enforcement of subpoenas for documents
is not, and should not be, conditioned upon when or to what Mr.
Haney testifies at a public hearing. As former Chairman John Din-
gell has said, permitting individuals to testify at a hearing prior to
receiving all their relevant documents or conducting interviews
with them is contrary to long-standing Committee investigative
practices and would prevent full and fair questioning of the wit-
nesses. Mr. Haney’s testimony has been delayed precisely because
of his refusal to produce the requested documents and be inter-
viewed by Committee staff on this matter.

Apparently in a partisan attempt to undermine this investiga-
tion, certain Members of the Minority have attempted to re-write
the history of congressional investigations to support their view
that we are on a ‘‘fishing expedition’’ and a ‘‘partisan witch hunt.’’
They have alleged on various occasions that we lacked ‘‘probable
cause’’ to issues these subpoenas, that the subpoenas were
overbroad, and that our investigation has uncovered no ‘‘evidence
of wrongdoing’’ to justify enforcing them against Mr. Haney. With
respect to the first two claims, we would urge all Members to re-
view the legal analysis performed by the experts at the Congres-
sional Research Service’s American Law Division, which solidly re-
futes these claims and is appended to the Contempt Report.

As for the claim that we lack ‘‘evidence of wrongdoing,’’ let us
make three related points. First, regardless of what the evidence
gathered to date shows or does not show, we do not understand its
legal relevance to the question that was before the Committee—Did
Mr. Haney have any lawful basis upon which to withhold the sub-
poenaed documents? Surely, the dissenters do not believe that law-
ful subpoenas can be ignored by subpoena recipients simply be-
cause those recipients (or certain Members) think that an inves-
tigation to date has not produced evidence of the recipients’ wrong-
doing. We have been seeking these records from Mr. Haney since
the very beginning of our investigation, and we should not allow
evidence gathered from others during the period of his recal-
citrance to eliminate or reduce his independent obligation to pro-
vide all requested materials. To do so would reward delay and ob-
struction, and likely would encourage others to not provide prompt
and complete cooperation with congressional investigations.

Second, the assumption underlying the dissenters’ view—that
evidence of wrongdoing is a condition precedent to the issuance and
enforcement of congressional subpoenas—is demonstrably false. As
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past practices of this and other committees of Congress show, the
oversight jurisdiction and responsibilities of Congress are not con-
fined to criminal violations. For example, this Committee’s 1982
contempt report on Interior Secretary James Watt—which was not
even prepared until six months after the full Committee voted to
hold him in contempt—does not contain a single allegation of
wrongdoing by Mr. Watt, nor any evidence of wrongdoing by him.
Even in the contempt report held up by some in the Minority as
a model—that involving the Bernstein brothers’ failure to testify
about their dealings with Ferdinand Marcos—there is absolutely no
evidence of wrongdoing of any kind. In fact, virtually the entire fac-
tual section of that report consists of allegations contained in news-
paper articles, without any discussion of the subcommittee’s inves-
tigative efforts or findings as to whether those allegations were ac-
curate (other than the issuance of subpoenas to the Bernstein
brothers). In all of these examples, the question was not ‘‘What
wrongdoing has been proven so far?,’’ but instead was ‘‘On what
basis is information being withheld from Congress?’’ That is what
we have been asking throughout these contempt proceedings, and
Mr. Haney’s answers have been far from satisfactory.

Third, we take strong issue with the dissenters’ one-sided charac-
terization of the facts developed during the course of this investiga-
tion. Not surprisingly, the individuals involved in the events at
issue, who have a strong interest in defending the Portals deal and
their own involvement in it, have denied in Committee staff inter-
views or carefully worded testimonial proffers any improper or ille-
gal conduct. But as we have gathered more documentation and
begun the process of re-interviewing these individuals, it has be-
come clear that there are many unresolved questions about the ef-
forts of Mr. Haney and his representatives to influence government
officials, and what impact those efforts may have had on agency de-
cision making. For example, we now know that the FCC’s Manag-
ing Director, the top administrative officer who was ostensibly in
charge of the relocation issue, was never advised of private meet-
ings between FCC political officials and Mr. Haney and his rep-
resentatives, including Mr. Knight and Mr. Sasser. We also now
know that FCC political officials overruled a January 1996 rec-
ommendation by the Managing Director that the Commission with-
draw its conditional acceptance and instead reject the Portals space
assignment. And each new set of documents we receive about the
$1 million fee and the work performed for it raises more questions
than it answers. (An earlier, more detailed rebuttal of some of the
Minority’s misleading and inaccurate statements with respect to
this investigation is appended to these Additional Views as Attach-
ment A.) Do the conflicting evidence and unanswered questions
prove that anyone did anything improper or illegal? No. But do
they warrant further investigation? Absolutely yes.

On the question of attorney-client privilege, we believe the Con-
tempt Report makes clear that the Subcommittee’s decision to over-
rule Mr. Haney’s claims of privilege was based on a sound legal
analogy to the judicial context, rather than on Congress’ inherent
right to reject even valid claims of privilege if necessary for the
performance of its constitutional functions. Thus, the Subcommit-
tee did what virtually every court in the country would have
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done—we rejected blanket assertions of privilege devoid of any af-
firmative showing by Mr. Haney that the elements of the privilege
were satisfied as to any particular document or that his relation-
ship with Mr. Knight was based predominantly upon the solicita-
tion or receipt of legal advice. We believe this determination is sup-
ported by the subsequent review of other materials over which Mr.
Haney had vigorously claimed privilege—those that were recently
produced to the Committee by Mr. Knight’s law firm. We asked Mr.
Morton Rosenberg—a Congressional Research Service expert on at-
torney-client issues whom the Minority often relied upon for legal
advice when it ran this Committee—to review and analyze 35 of
these claimed privileged documents. He found that 34 of the 35
claims of privilege likely would not be sustained by a reviewing
court. Mr. Rosenberg’s analysis, appropriately redacted, is ap-
pended to these Additional Views as Attachment B.

We also note that, as compared to our Minority predecessors on
this Committee, we handled Mr. Haney’s claims of privilege in a
far more open, fair, and considered fashion. We have appended to
these Additional Views, as Attachment C, an affidavit from the
former chief counsel and staff director for then-Chairman Dingell,
who explains the ‘‘process’’ by which the then-Chairman unilater-
ally ruled against all 30 claims of privilege raised by subpoenaed
parties over a 10-year period.

Finally, in an attempt to paint the current investigation as part
of a political smear campaign against a close confidant of the Vice
President, Mr. Peter Knight, some in the Minority have taken to
reciting or attaching to their correspondence one-sided and gen-
erally inaccurate commentary by one or two journalists who had
criticized the Subcommittee’s recent investigation into the Depart-
ment of Energy’s funding of Molten Metal Technology (another cli-
ent of Mr. Knight’s). They have ignored, however, the favorable re-
porting by the Washington Post, Time magazine, and other news
organizations on this same matter. We also want to emphasize that
the Subcommittee initiated the Molten Metal investigation at the
urging of the Minority staff, and as an outgrowth of the Commit-
tee’s overall programmatic review of the Office of Science and Tech-
nology. That review has led to numerous changes in the Office’s
management and operations, which we believe will improve the ef-
fectiveness of its technology development efforts.

The issue here is Mr. Franklin Haney’s illegitimate refusal to
provide subpoenaed documents. That is what the Contempt Report
is about. For all of the above reasons, we strongly urge the adop-
tion of the Contempt Report by the House of Representatives, fol-
lowed by a speedy referral of this matter to the U.S. Attorney for
the District of Columbia for prosecution under the criminal con-
tempt statute.

TOM BLILEY.
W.J.‘‘BILLY’’ TAUZIN.
MICHAEL G. OXLEY.
MICHAEL BILIRAKIS.
DAN SCHAEFER.
JOE BARTON.
CLIFF STEARNS.
JAMES C. GREENWOOD.
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MICHAEL D. CRAPO.
STEVE LARGENT.
RICHARD BURR.
BRIAN P. BILBRAY.
CHARLIE NORWOOD.
RICK WHITE.
JOHN SHIMKUS.
J. DENNIS HASTERT.
BILL PAXON.
CHRISTOPHER COX.
RICK LAZIO.
BARBARA CUBIN.
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MINORITY VIEWS OF REPRESENTATIVE RON KLINK

I am joined in my views by Representatives Dingell, Waxman,
Markey, Boucher, Manton, Towns, Pallone, Brown, Gordon, Furse,
Deutsch, Rush, Stupak, Engel, Sawyer, Wynn, Green, McCarthy,
Strickland, and DeGette.

Although the subpoena to Mr. Haney was issued on a party line
vote, one does not take lightly the decision by Mr. Haney not to
comply with a Congressional subpoena. But we should also not
take lightly the move to hold a private person in criminal contempt
of Congress. Fundamental fairness to our citizens requires that this
body demonstrates that all efforts have been made to provide the
person with a full opportunity to provide personally his or her de-
fense to the nation’s elected representatives.

In this case there are three overwhelming reasons that forced
our negative vote that we wish to lay before the Speaker:

(1) There has not been a shred of credible evidence of wrongdoing
in the Portals matter. To the contrary, all of the information gath-
ered by the Committee so far has suggested the opposite.

(2) The Committee has refused repeated requests by Mr. Haney,
Mr. Knight and Steven Grigg, the primary developer of the Portals,
to provide testimony at a Committee hearing prior to proceeding
with the drastic step of a contempt proceeding.

(3) We cannot ignore the partisan political agenda of the majority
in the development of this issue.

My statement made at the June 24 Committee meeting to con-
sider the matter of contempt provides the details of this matter and
is attached at the end of these views, but I want to summarize
each of these three important points.

(1) There has not been a shred of credible evidence of wrongdoing
in the Portals matter. To the contrary, all of the information gath-
ered by the committee so far has suggested the opposite.

Although never clearly stated by the Subcommittee or Committee
chairmen, the allegation before the Committee appears to be that
Mr. Haney was involved in an improper or illegal attempt to influ-
ence government agencies to obtain a favorable supplemental lease
for the Portals partnership and paid an improper contingency fee
to his attorney. Members of the House who read the Majority re-
port might wonder why the only evidence of impropriety cited in
the report are two magazine articles that appeared in October
1997. (This is particularly curious in light of the FCC’s attached
October 6, 1997, rebuttal to the Business Week article that de-
scribed the article as ‘‘materially and demonstrably inaccurate in
several critical respects.’’) One might reasonably conclude that the
Committee has not followed up on this matter over the past eight
months. To the contrary, the Committee has received thousands of
pages of requested documents from the General Services Adminis-
tration (GSA), the Federal Communications Commission (FCC), the
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White House, Mr. Haney, Mr. Knight and others concerning the
Portals lease and the relocation of the FCC, and Committee staff
has interviewed numerous government officials and private persons
who negotiated the lease or were otherwise involved with the Por-
tals. The reason the investigation is not mentioned is simple: none
of the documents, nor any of the staff interviews revealed any im-
propriety in the negotiation of the lease, the hiring of Mr. Knight
by Mr. Haney or in the actions of any of Mr. Haney’s representa-
tives. Subcommittee Chairman Barton admitted this in the June
24, 1998, Committee contempt meeting.

At that Committee meeting to consider the Majority report, Rep-
resentative Stupak offered an amendment to include important ma-
terial, outlining the scope of the investigation, which was missing
in the Majority report. The text of the amendment is included at
the conclusion of these views. One part of the amendment read as
follows:

Between the initial letter to Mr. Haney on November 7,
1997, and the present, Subcommittee staff has interviewed
numerous officials of the Federal Communications Com-
mission and the General Accounting Office. These include
Reed Hundt, former FCC Chairman; Andrew Fishel, FCC
managing director in charge of the FCC move since 1989;
Jeff Ryan, operations management and services chief, who
works with Mr. Fishel; Robert Peck, formerly an assistant
to Mr. Hundt and a member of the legislative staff and
currently the Public Buildings Commissioner at GSA; Paul
Chistolini, deputy commissioner; Blair Levin, a former spe-
cial assistant to Mr. Hundt; Jackie Chorney, a former legal
advisor to Mr. Hundt; Sharon Roach and Barry Siegal, at-
torneys at the General Services Administration who nego-
tiated the lease; Tom Pagonis, the contract officer for the
Portals project; Bob Goodman, director of property acquisi-
tion and realty services; Bill Lawson, GSA’s assistant ad-
ministrator for public buildings; Douglas Benton, Mr.
Goodman’s successor; Thurman Davis, the former GSA ad-
ministrator for the National Capital Region; and Barbara
Silbey, a former special assistant to the GSA adminis-
trator.

All of these officials have stated in their interviews that
they had no knowledge of or any evidence of improper po-
litical influence by Mr. Haney or other misconduct by Mr.
Haney or his representatives or of an illegal contingency
fee.

Although the amendment was defeated on a party line vote, the
Chairman of the Oversight and Investigations Subcommittee stipu-
lated that the above statement concerning the interviews of govern-
ment officials that Mr. Haney was alleged to have improperly influ-
enced was true. He stated that a reason for withholding these facts
from the House was the refusal of Representative Stupak to vote
in favor of contempt, even if his amendment were adopted.

In addition to a lack of evidence of impropriety in the negotiation
of the Portals lease, the Committee has actually received affirma-
tive evidence of the propriety of the lease. The impartial General
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Accounting Office reviewed the lease at Senator John McCain’s re-
quest, and in a letter dated February 27, 1998, GAO concluded,
‘‘The lease is in the best financial interest of the government and is
preferable to FCC’s staying in its current location.’’

GAO also stated, ‘‘No evidence came to our attention that GSA’s
solicitation of space for FCC was not in compliance with applicable
laws and its own agency regulations governing the procurement of
leased space, except for its cancellation of the SFO in February
1992.’’ GAO concluded that after the courts reinstated the improp-
erly canceled solicitation, ‘‘It appears that GSA followed the Court’s
decision and thereafter complied with applicable laws and regula-
tions we reviewed in resuming the procurement process, and it sub-
sequently awarded the lease to Portals II. Furthermore, the award
to Portals II was consistent with the fiscal year 1988 lease prospec-
tus for approximately 260,000 occupiable square feet.’’ GAO has
looked at this project several times in the last five years and never
found anything amiss.

The allegation of an improper contingency fee paid to Peter
Knight in return for obtaining a supplemental lease has also found
no support in the subsequent investigation of the matter. The only
source cited in the Majority report for the proposition that the fee
was a contingency fee is one of Mr. Knight’s law partners, Bernard
Wunder, a former Republican staffer on this Committee. Mr.
Wunder had stated last year in a staff interview that Mr. Knight
had received a ‘‘lump sum payment’’ or a ‘‘performance fee.’’ In a
subsequent staff interview in May, Mr. Wunder told committee
staff that he did not intend the term ‘‘performance fee’’ to mean an
illegal contingency fee, but rather to mean it was for work that was
not covered by a monthly retainer or an hourly fee, an important
fact also missing from the Majority’s report. Mr. Wunder also stat-
ed that he knew that Mr. Knight had worked on other projects for
Mr. Haney.

Mr. Haney and Mr. Knight have also denied the existence of a
contingency fee in letters to the Committee and in proffers of testi-
mony made to the Subcommittee. Both have contended that the fee
covered multiple projects over a period of three years. Documents
provided by Mr. Knight confirmed that work subsequent to the
signing of the Portals lease was performed, and additional docu-
ments received recently pursuant to a subpoena to Mr. Knight’s
law firm again confirmed the existence of other projects. In an
interview of Mr. Knight’s executive assistant, who prepared the
bill, she confirmed that Mr. Haney had been a client of Mr.
Knight’s for almost three years, that she frequently communicated
with Mr. Haney, that she had set up separate files for his various
projects, and that she billed him every month for expenses relating
to work done on his projects, but had never billed him another fee
after 1996.

In a proffer of testimony, Steve Grigg, the managing partner of
the Portals project, stated that he asked for and negotiated the pro-
visions in the supplemental lease that the Majority apparently be-
lieves to be the provisions demanded before a contingency fee was
paid to Mr. Knight. Mr. Haney did not become a partner in the
Portals development until March 26, 1996, over three months after
the lease provisions in question were signed.
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During the course of the meeting to consider the contempt mat-
ter, members of the Majority continually stated that these facts
were irrelevant, and that all that mattered was a subpoena had
been issued, and Mr. Haney had refused to comply. I do not agree.
Mr. Haney has asserted that some materials were covered by an
attorney-client privilege, and that other documents were not perti-
nent to the Portals investigation. In overcoming such claims of
legal privilege that protect all American citizens, the Committee
should show at least some need for the information.

The lack of any coherent allegation of impropriety backed by
credible evidence, and the existence of considerable exculpatory evi-
dence, provide no reason to proceed to contempt.

(2) The Committee has refused to take the reasonable step of hear-
ings before proceeding with the drastic step of a contempt proceed-
ing.

From the early days of this investigation, the parties and the Mi-
nority members have been asking for public hearings under oath,
and the Committee repeatedly has refused to hold them. At the No-
vember 5, 1997, hearing on Molten Metal Technology, at which
Chairman Barton first raised the issue of the $1 million payment
to Mr. Knight, I asked for, and received, a promise from Chairman
Barton—a public hearing at which Mr. Wunder, the apparent
source of the allegation that some kind of illegal or improper fee
was involved would testify. In that same hearing, under oath, Mr.
Knight denied that he had received any type of contingency fee (p.
195), and Chairman Barton admitted that he was making no alle-
gations of illegalities (p. 198). The hearing with Mr. Wunder has
not been held.

As early as December 22, Mr. Haney’s lawyer stated in a letter
to the Committee that he would prefer a public hearing ‘‘accom-
panied by an on-the-record transcript, and the rules of procedure
applicable to such hearings, as preferable to the campaign of unsub-
stantiated accusation and innuendo which we have experienced to
date.’’ This was in response to a letter threatening to subpoena Mr.
Haney for testimony if he continued to refuse to submit to ‘‘vol-
untary’’ interview.

Mr. Knight, also requested a public hearing. On March 30, 1998,
in a letter from his attorney Mr. Grigg requested a public hearing
‘‘so that we could put these matters to rest. For a variety of reasons,
we believe it is most appropriate to discuss these matters at a public
hearing and not in an informal staff interview.’’

At the June 24 meeting on the contempt matter, I offered a mo-
tion to postpone consideration of the contempt citation until the
Committee had held a hearing to receive testimony from Mr.
Haney, Mr. Knight, Mr. Grigg, Reed Hundt, formerly chair of the
FCC, and Emily Hewitt, general counsel for the GSA. It was re-
jected on a party line vote.

Throughout the course of this investigation, Mr. Haney has never
refused to testify at a hearing. To the contrary, in letters and state-
ments from his attorney, he has welcomed an opportunity to tes-
tify. Yet the Majority refuses to hold a hearing so that Members
could determine whether the documents sought by the Committee
were necessary or the underlying allegations were sustainable.



147

In early May, it appeared that the Committee was about to hold
a hearing at which Mr. Wunder and William Diefenderfer, a former
law partner of Mr. Knight’s, would testify about the fee Mr. Knight
received from Mr. Haney. However, after Mr. Wunder informed
Committee staff that he would not testify that the fee was an ille-
gal contingency fee, the proposed hearing was cancelled. Similarly,
the Committee has refused to call Mr. Knight or Mr. Knight’s sec-
retary Jewelle Hazel, who prepared the bills, both of whom have
information about the fee arrangement. After an offer by Ms. Ha-
zel’s attorney to Committee staff, Minority staff set up an interview
with Ms. Hazel. But the Majority staff refused to attend.

With respect to the negotiation of the Portals lease, none of the
government officials involved in negotiation of the lease has been
called to testify. Nor has the private sector individual, Mr. Grigg,
who negotiated the lease, been called, despite his expressed willing-
ness to testify. The General Accounting Office auditors, who have
examined the entire leasing chronology, have also not been called.

It is unprecedented to our knowledge that an individual, particu-
larly a private businessman being required to provide documents
about on-going activities unrelated to the project under investiga-
tion, cited for contempt of Congress would not be first given an op-
portunity to testify before the Committee. For example, in this
Committee, former Secretary James Watt appeared at two public
hearings prior to his contempt citation. Whether or not such an op-
portunity is legally required, the refusal of the Subcommittee to
hold a single hearing on this matter suggests that the Majority has
little interest in obtaining the facts, and, more likely, is afraid that
the testimony may rebut allegations of impropriety.

(3) We cannot ignore the partisan political agenda of the Majority
in the development of this issue.

It is an unfortunate fact that this investigation is part of an over-
all program within this Congress of Republican-led investigations
of high level administration officials and Democratic supporters.
This pattern of politically motivated investigations is documented
in a June 18, 1998, report by the U.S. House Democratic Policy
Committee entitled ‘‘Politically-Motivated Investigations by House
Committees.’’

The investigation of Mr. Haney has its roots in a previous inves-
tigation by the subcommittee of Mr. Knight’s representation of the
Molten Metal Technology company and its obtaining a contract
with the Department of Energy. The interest in Molten Metal ap-
peared to result from the involvement of Mr. Knight, a former long-
time aide to Vice President Al Gore and the Clinton-Gore ‘96 cam-
paign manager. Mr. Knight was one of two Washington lobbyist—
the other was a Republican—hired by Molten Metal for strategic
advice in obtaining government business. Molten Metal had a
unique process for the treatment of mixed waste, and the Depart-
ment of Energy was under great pressure to begin disposing of the
wastes it had been generating.

In that investigation, a memorandum from counsels Mark
Paoletta and Tom DiLenge to Chairman Joe Barton dated October
20, 1997, which stated that they had no real evidence of wrong-
doing, nonetheless set out the reasons for holding hearings:
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‘‘(ii) it forces the key players to deny allegations of misconduct
under oath’’

* * * * * * *
‘‘(v) will likely generate enormous press coverage, in light of

the recent, high-profile news coverage of MMT’s contracts with
DOE.’’

The counsels urged holding the hearing despite this warning:
‘‘The cons of holding such a hearing are (I) there is no smok-

ing gun, which opens us up to partisan criticism for engaging
in a witch-hunt or smear of Democrat officials, lobbyists, and
fund-raising practices (the ‘‘everyone does it’’ defense).’’

Although the hearings, as predicted, found no evidence of impro-
priety, the results for Molten Metal were catastrophic. The public-
ity from the hearings made it impossible to obtain $20 million in
bond financing and drove the company into bankruptcy. After the
hearings, 221 Molten Metal employees lost their jobs, including 45
in Chairman Barton’s state of Texas. A planned $70 million plant
in Bay City, Texas was put on hold.

The press soon caught on to the partisan nature of the investiga-
tion. Thomas Oliphant wrote in the Boston Globe on September 23,
1997:

‘‘This sordid story could never have flown without the feeding
frenzy that surrounds the vice president, but as an attempt at
guilt by the associations of his associates it is as cheap as any
of the shots that will in time come back to hit those who con-
nived in launching it.’’

A similar conclusion was drawn by Jonathan Broder in Boston
Magazine in February, 1998:

‘‘Despite all the insinuations, Republican investigators have
presented no evidence that Molten Metal’s contributions to the
DNC resulted in its winning government contracts.’’

After a final hearing on Molten Metal, George Lobsenz writing
in The Energy Daily on February 18, 1998, concluded (‘‘Facts Play
Second Fiddle In Barton’s Campaign Against Gore, MMT’’):

‘‘Barton has labored to sketch a conspiracy in which MMT
hired a lobbyist, Peter Knight, a major Gore backer; cozied up
to Grumbly, a Gore protégée; funneled campaign contributions
to the Clinton-Gore campaign and qthen saw Grumbly boost its
DOE funding from $1 million to $33 million despite uncertain
results from the initial grants provided the company.

‘‘A pretty sexy story, if you can prove the political connection.
The problem is, Barton can’t.’’

Lobsenz also noted:
‘‘Last Thursday, Barton finally got around to giving Molten

Metal Technology officials an opportunity to appear in person
before his panel to answer the charges. But the uncomfortable
truth for all concerned is that the facts of the case have long
since ceased to matter because the damage has been done.

‘‘The company, which was struggling commercially even be-
fore Barton’s attacks, has laid off hundreds of employees and
is scrambling to find new financing—and clean the mud off its
reputation.’’

During the course of the disastrous Molten Metal investigation,
the investigators were told of a payment made to Mr. Knight by
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Mr. Haney, whose name is similar to that of William Haney, the
former president of Molten Metal. We cannot ignore the political
motivation of the subcommittee to focus upon Mr. Knight and
Franklin Haney, who has been a long-time contributor to the
Democratic Party and a one-time Democratic candidate for gov-
ernor of Tennessee. Given the finding of GAO that the Portals
lease was in the taxpayers’ interest, and the utter lack of evidence
of impropriety in the entire affair, we are led to believe that par-
tisan politics is at the root of this investigation.

The following are my statements at the meetings of the Commit-
tee and Subcommittee to consider contempt, the amendment of-
fered by Representative Stupak to the Report, and the October 6,
1997, response of the FCC to the Business Week article cited by the
Majority.

RON KLINK.
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